AGREEMENT BETWEEN

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, MASSACHUSETTS AND THE PEMBROKE POLICE SUPERIOR OFFICERS ASSOCIATION

JULY 1, 2019 – JUNE 30, 2022

		:	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AGREEMENT	8
PREAMBLE	8
ARTICLE 1	8
RECOGNITION AND UNION SECURITY Section 1. Section 2. Section 3. Section 4. Section 5. Section 6.	
ARTICLE II	10
RETENTION OF CIVIL SERVICES RIGHTS	
ARTICLE III	10
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS Section 1 Section 2	
ARTICLE IV	10
PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS AND SECURITY Section 1. Section 2. Section 3. Section 4.	
ARTICLE V	12
ACCESS TO PREMISES AND UNION ACTIVITIES	12
ARTICLE VI	12
CONVENTIONS	12
ARTICLE VII	12
DUTIES	12 <i>13</i>
ARTICLE VII - A	13
E 911 IMPLEMENTATION	13
USE OF FORCE TRAINING	
ARTICLE VIII	14
CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT ALLOWANCE Section 1 Section 2 Section 3 Section 4	14 14 14

Section 5.	
Section 6.	
ARTICLE IX	
GRIEVANCE	15
Section 1	
Section 2.	
Section 3.	:
Section 4.	
Section 5.	· ·
Section 6.	
Section 7.	
Section 8	
Section 9	
Section 10	
Section 11.	
Section 12.	16
ARTICLE X	16
STEWARDS	
Section 1	
Section 2.	
Section 3.	
ARTICLE XI	15
POSTING OF TIME	
ARTICLE XII	
BEREAVEMENT	
Section 1.	
Section 2.	
Section 3	
Section 4	
Section 5.	
Section 6.	
ARTICLE XIII	
TEMPORARY SERVICE OUT OF RANK	
Section 1	
Section 2	
ARTICLE XIV	
LEAVE OF ABSENCE AND SPECIAL LEAVE	19
Section 1	
Section 2.	
Section 3	
ARTICLE XV - A	
OVERTIME	
Section 1.	
Section 2.	
Section 3.	
Section 4	
Section 5.	
Section 6.	

Section 7	
Section 8	
Section 9	21
Section 10	21
Section 11	
Section 12.	21
ARTICLE XV - B	21
COURT TIME	21
Section 1	21
Section 2	
Section 3	
Section 4	
Section 5.	
Section 6	
Section 7.	
Section 8	
ARTICLE XVI	22
OUTSIDE DETAILS	
Section 1	
Section 2	
Section 3	
Section 4.	
Section 5.	
Section 6	
Section 7.	
Section 8	
Section 9 Section 10	
Section 11.	
Section 12.	
Section 13.	
Section 14.	
ARTICLE XVI-A	
OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT	
ARTICLE XVII	
SENIORITY	
Section 1	
Section 2	
Section 3 Section 4	
ARTICLE XVIII	
HOLIDAYS	
Section 1.	
Section 2.	
Section 3.	
Section 4. Section 5.	
Section 6.	
Section 7.	
Section 8	

ARTICLE XIX	27
VACATIONS	27
Section 1	
Section 2	
Section 3	
Section 4	
Section 5.	
Section 6	
Section 7	
Section 8.	
Section 9.	
Section 10	
Section 11 Section 12	
Section 13.	
ARTICLE XX	
HOURS OF WORK AND CONDITIONS	29
Section 1	
Section 2.	
Section 3.	
Section 4	
Section 5.	30
ARTICLE XXI	30
INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT	30
Section 1.	
Section 2	
Section 3	
ARTICLE XXII	31
SICK LEAVE	31
Section 1	31
Section 2	31
Section 3	32
Section 4	
Section 5.	
	32
Section 7	
Section 8	
Section 9.	
Section 10 Section 11	
Section 12.	
Section 13.	
ARTICLE XXII-A	
DRUG AND ALCOHOL USE	
ARTICLE XXII-AA	
MATERNITY LEAVE/FAMILY LEAVE	
ARTICLE XXII-BPERSONAL LEAVE	
FERSUNAL LEAVE	

ARTICLE XXII - C	37
INJURY ON DUTY/LIGHT DUTY	37
Section 1	37
Section 2	
Section 3	
Section 4	
Section 5	
Section 6	
Section 7	
Section 8. Section 9.	
Section 10.	
Section 11.	
Section 12.	
Section 13.	
Section 14.	
Section 15	40
ARTICLE XXIII	40
WAGES	
WAGE AND SALARY SCALES	
ARTICLE XXIII – A	41
PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS	41
Section 1.	
Section 2	41
Section 3.	41
ARTICLE XXIII – B	42
NON-PROMOTIONAL MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE	42
ARTICLE XXIV	i i
LONGEVITY	
ARTICLE XXV	
NIGHT DIFFERENTIAL	43
ARTICLE XXVI	43
TRAINING	43
Section 1	
Section 2	43
Section 3	
Section 4	44
ARTICLE XXVI - A	44
PROFESSIONAL IMPROVEMENTS PLAN	44
ARTICLE XXVII	
EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE PLAN	
Section 1	
Section 2.	
Section 3.	
Section 4.	
Section 5.	

Section 6	
ARTICLE XXVIII	
HEALTH AND SAFETY	
ARTICLE XXIX	
DUTY ASSIGNMENTS	
ARTICLE XXX	46
NON-DISCRIMINATION	46
ARTICLE XXXI	46
JUST CAUSE AND COMPLAINTS	
Section 1	
Section 2	
ARTICLE XXXII	
MILEAGE RATE	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
ARTICLE XXXIII	
CALL BACK/CALL IN EARLY	
Section 1	
ARTICLE XXXIV	
TOWN FUNDING	
Section 2	
ARTICLE XXXV	48
SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS PROVISIONS	48
ARTICLE XXXVI	48
DURATION OF AGREEMENT	48
Section 1	48
Section 2 Section 3	
ARTICLE XXXVII	
WAGE RE-OPENER.	50
SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT	51

AGREEMENT

The following Memorandum of Agreement, unless otherwise specifically stated herein, effective as of July 1, 2019, is made and entered into by and between the Town of Pembroke hereinafter called the "Town" acting by and through its Selectmen and the Pembroke Police Superior Officers Association, hereinafter called the "Association" under the provisions of Chapter 150E of the General Laws.

PREAMBLE

Whereas the General Court of Massachusetts saw fit in the year 1965 and by further amendment to pass a law in which they recognize that the police officers have a statutory right to bargain collectively with the Town, herein represented by the Pembroke Board of Selectmen, it is the intention of this Agreement to maintain a harmonious relationship between them, recognizing the legitimate rights and needs of the employees of the Police Department, as well as the obligation of the Town to protect the safety of the public.

The Chief of Police of Pembroke, Massachusetts has the responsibility for carrying out the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 1

RECOGNITION AND UNION SECURITY

Section 1.

The Town recognizes the Pembroke Police Superior Officers Association, as the sole and exclusive representative and bargaining agent for the bargaining unit pursuant to the certification granted by the Massachusetts State Board of Labor Relations, July 1, 1998, for the purposes of collective bargaining relative to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment, for all full time regular civil service appointed police superior officers and excluding the Chief of Police.

The Association recognizes the Board of Selectmen as the sole and exclusive representative of the Town for the purpose of collective bargaining relative to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment.

Section 2.

The Town will not aid, promote, or finance any labor group or organization which purports to engage in collective bargaining, or make any agreement with any group or individual for the purpose of undermining the Association, or changing any conditions contained in this Agreement.

Section 3.

Employees have and shall be protected in the exercise of, the right without fear of penalty or reprisal to join and assist the Association. The freedom of employees to assist the Association shall be recognized as extending to participation in the management of the Association and acting for the Association in the capacity of an Association officer or representative or otherwise and including the right to present Association views and positions, to the public, to officials of the Town and the Department, to members of the Board of Selectmen of the Town of Pembroke and of the Massachusetts General Court or to any other appropriate authority or official.

Section 4.

Further, no representative, department official or agent of the Town shall:

- A. Interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of their right to join or refrain from joining the Association;
- B. Interfere with the formation, existence, operations or administration of the Association:
- C. Discriminate in regard to employment or condition of employment in order to encourage or discourage membership in the Association;
- D. Discriminate against an employee because he has given testimony, taken part in any grievance procedures or other hearings, negotiations, or conference for or in behalf of the Association or any employee;
- E. Refuse to reasonably meet, negotiate or confirm proper matters with officers or representatives of the Association as set forth in this Agreement;
- F. Discharge or discriminate in any way against employees of the Police Department for Association membership or Association activities.

Section 5.

No employee will be reprimanded, suspended, disciplined, demoted, discharged, or deprived of any advantage without just cause.

Section 6.

The Town will indemnify the employees of the Pembroke Police Department covered by this Agreement in accordance with MGL Chapter 258 Section 9 with the public attorney provision of MGL 258 Section 6 as defined in MGL Chapter 258 Section 1. If law enforcement insurance becomes unavailable to the Town of Pembroke, the Town reserves the right to renegotiate this section.

ARTICLE II

RETENTION OF CIVIL SERVICES RIGHTS

The members of the Police Department covered by this Agreement shall continue to enjoy their Civil Service rights as provided in Chapter 31 of the Massachusetts General Laws.

ARTICLE III

MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 1.

This Agreement has not been designed to violate any Federal, State, County laws or Town of Pembroke By-Laws. Except to the extent abridged by this Agreement, the Employer shall not be deemed to be limited by this Agreement in the performance of the regular and customary functions of municipal management and supervision of the Pembroke Police Department. The employer reserves and retains the right to direct and supervise employees of the Department including the assignment to overtime; the right to hire and promote employees to positions within the Department; to suspend, demote, discharge or take other disciplinary action against employees for just cause; to determine the mission of the Department, its budget, its organization, the number of employees to be utilized by the Department, the technology of the Department and its internal security practices; to lay off employees for lack of funds or other Department reorganizations; to determine the types of operations, methods and procedures to be employed, and to discontinue procedures or operations, except as may otherwise be provided by this Agreement.

This Agreement shall not be constructed to deprive employees of any benefits or protections granted by mandatory laws or accepted permissive Legislation of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Section 2.

All job benefits heretofore enjoyed by the employees will continue under the conditions upon which they had previously been legally granted unless benefits are improved by this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV

PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS AND SECURITY

Section 1.

The Town agrees to deduct from the pay of all employees covered by this Agreement, the dues and assessments of the Association having jurisdiction over such employees who submit dues authorization forms furnished by the Association and agrees to remit same to said

Association prior to the end of the month for which deduction is made. Where law requires written authorization by the employee, the same is to be furnished in the form required. No deduction shall be made which is prohibited by applicable law. Where an employee who is scheduled to pay dues is not on the payroll during the week deduction is made, the employee must make arrangements with the Association to pay such dues in advance. The provisions of General Laws, Chapter 180, Section 17A as amended apply.

Section 2.

The Association agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Town for any loss or damage arising from the operation of this Section. It is also agreed that neither any employee nor the Association shall have any claim against the Town for any such dues deductions made or not made, as the case may be, unless a claim of error is made in writing to the Town within sixty (60) days after the date such deductions were or should have been made. The obligation of the Town for dues actually deducted under this section terminates upon the delivery of the dues together with a list of the amount of dues and employees from whom they were deducted to the Association.

Section 3.

The Town agrees to include with the employees weekly payroll check, a stub or suitable written breakdown of what exactly the employee is being paid for, for that particular pay period, i.e.

Regular week's salary 3 hours investigation 6 hours court 4 hours road job detail 4 hours detail pay Night differential \$5.41

Section 4.

The Town agrees to deduct from the pay of any employee covered by this Agreement a sum of money submitted on a "Payroll Deduction Notice" and remit same to the employee requested financial institution. Such agreement shall be between the employee and the Town of Pembroke Treasurer's Office and shall be made according to the General Laws. If an employee is not on the payroll it is up to the employee to make arrangements with employee requested financial institution to pay such deductions. This program will be implemented as soon as possible, consistent with good operating practices within the Treasurer's Department. The Town will incur no liability for the loss of credit union deduction moneys after depositing same properly addressed as directed by the employee requested financial institution in the United States Mail.

ARTICLE V

ACCESS TO PREMISES AND UNION ACTIVITIES

Section 1.

Authorized agents for the Association shall have access to Town records relating to the Police Department during normal working hours of the Town Hall staff, to investigate working conditions and payroll records of the Police Department for the purpose of determining whether or not the terms of this Agreement are being complied with. The Town will make normal records available within seven (7) working days of the Association's written request.

Section 2.

Negotiators appointed by the unit shall conduct all official unit business, negotiations, and conferences with the Town Administration or Chief of Police on their own time, except when meeting is requested by the Town Administration, Chief of Police, Wage and Personnel Board or emergency situations.

ARTICLE VI

CONVENTIONS

Duly elected delegates and alternates not to exceed one (1) are to be allowed to attend the Massachusetts Police Association Convention without loss of pay and not to exceed two (2) days per year as provided by C. 147, A. 17d.

ARTICLE VII

DUTIES

The duties of the members of the Police Department shall consist of the following:

- 1. Protection of persons and property.
- 2. Prevention of crime.
- 3. Apprehension and prosecution of all criminals.
- 4. Control of all traffic about Town and to follow all orders pertaining to work performed by police officers and officers of higher rank together with those duties stated in Massachusetts General Laws C. 41, S. 98.
- 5. Job Descriptions for members of the Association shall be set forth by the Chief of Police after receiving input from the Superior Officers Association. The job descriptions shall be reasonable equal for all members, and the Chief shall provide and maintain an organizational chart for the Pembroke Police

- Department that accurately reflects the duties of the members of the Superior Officers Association. But, the ultimate authority to assign job duties rests with the Chief of Police.
- 6. Changes in job duties shall coincide with shift changes that take effect in the spring and fall unless an agreement is reached between the Association and Chief or in the event of an unforeseen absence.

Section 1.

Members of the Superior Officers Association shall not be assigned to non-police duties.

ARTICLE VII - A

E 911 IMPLEMENTATION

All Officers covered by this agreement shall perform and be compensated for performing the duties associated with E-911.

All training associated with E-911 shall be provided by the town and will comply with sections VII--Duties, XV-A--Overtime, XX-A--Hours and Working Conditions, XXVI--Police School, and any other sections of this agreement.

Employees qualifying for educational incentive holding Bachelor's or Master's Degrees shall no longer receive the E911 pay. Bargaining unit members entering this Association after the signing of this Agreement (April, 2004) shall not under any circumstanses receive 911 pay.

All other Officers covered by this agreement shall receive \$800.00 annual compensation payable by August 1.

If due to causes outside of the Town's control the officers no longer perform E 911 duties, payments hereunder shall cease.

ARTICLE VII - B

USE OF FORCE TRAINING

All officers covered by this Agreement shall participate in Use of Force Training at the direction of the Chief of Police. All Use of Force Training shall be provided by the Town at regular intervals and shall comply with all other applicable provisions of this Agreement. For participating in said training, the parties agree that members of the bargaining unit shall be compensated as follows:

On July 1, 2016, members of the bargaining unit shall receive an additional stipend of \$1,600 rolled into their base pay.

ARTICLE VIII

CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT ALLOWANCE

Section 1.

The annual clothing allowance for the members of the Association shall be Eight Hundred Dollars (\$800), which shall be rolled into the member's base salary.

Section 2.

Any required change of style, type or color of uniform or attire shall be paid for by the Town unless the Association agrees to make such changes from their own clothing allowance. The Chief of Police may approve the purchase of civilian clothing when required for the performance of duty.

Section 3.

In addition to the annual clothing allowance, the Town agrees to make available to members of the Superior Officers Association, the proper equipment to perform their duties. Proper equipment, as defined by the Chief, should include and not be limited to current safety equipment as approved and recommended by the Department of Health & Safety Committee. The Town and the Association agree to perform all training necessary for the use of such equipment.

All hard goods such as, but not limited to a club, handcuffs-with case, mace-with holder, hat badges, shirt badges, jacket badges, revolver with belt and holster, flashlight and batteries (as reasonably needed), ballistic vest on a scheduled replacement, and insignias, patches, stripes, whistles as required by the Chief of Police and provide reasonable maintenance and replacement for the above.

Section 4.

The Town will repair or replace externally worn eyeglasses not to exceed the actual cash value, replace any part of an Officer's uniform or equipment that is damaged or destroyed in the reasonable performance of his/her duties not to exceed the actual cash value, and repair or replace watches not to exceed \$50.00 that are damaged or destroyed in the reasonable performance of duty.

Section 5.

Each employee shall be issued a pistol permit at the Town's expense, as long as he/she is a sworn Police Officer for the Town of Pembroke.

Section 6.

Each member of the Association will receive a \$350 uniform cleaning allowance, which shall be rolled into the member's base salary.

ARTICLE IX

GRIEVANCE

Grievances arising out of matters covered by this Agreement, and disputes and consultations on any question arising out of the employer-employee relationship will be processed in the following manner:

Section 1.

An employee or the Association having a grievance or complaint must take up the grievance or complaint, with the Chief of Police, or his designee in the absence of the Chief, in writing, within seven (7) scheduled working days after the occurrence of the alleged event or after the aggrieved becomes aware of the event. The Chief of Police shall give his decision in writing within seven (7) scheduled working days of receipt of written grievance from employee or Association.

Section 2.

If the employee or the Association is not satisfied with the decision of the Chief, he/she may appeal to the Board of Selectmen within seven (7) scheduled working days after the Association's receipt of the greivance denial by the Chief. The Board shall render their decision in writing within ten (10) days.

Section 3.

If the decision of the Board of Selectmen is not acceptable to the employee or to the Association, they may appeal to the State Board of Arbitration or the American Arbitration Association within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the Board of Selectmen's denial for a decision. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on both parties to this Agreement.

Section 4.

Grievances or complaints must be put in motion within the above time limits or will be considered null and void.

Section 5.

The employee, when discussing his grievance or complaint with management, may be accompanied by an official of the Association.

Section 6.

The above time limits may be extended as mutually agreed upon.

Section 7.

The employee and the Association shall be in a pay status when acting as a witness, if requested by the administration..

Section 8.

The cost of arbitration shall be borne equally by the employer and the Association.

Section 9.

In choosing an arbitrator, the American Arbitration Association will be requested to render a list of five (5) arbitrators. If the parties cannot agree on an arbitrator, they shall each strike one from the list until only one (1) arbitrator is left. The remaining name on the list of names shall be the arbitrator.

Section 10.

Notwithstanding any other terms of this Agreement, any matter which is subject to the jurisdiction of the Civil Service Commission, as, for example, discharge or suspension, or any matter which is subject to the jurisdiction of any retirement board established by law or ordinance, and any incident which occurred or failed to occur prior to the effective date of this Agreement, shall not be subject of any grievance or arbitration hereunder.

Section 11.

The arbitrator shall make no decision;

- A. which alters, amends, adds to or detracts from the language of this Agreement;
- B. which recommends a right or relief for any period of time prior to the effective date of this Agreement;
- C. which modifies or abridges in any way the rights or prerogatives of the Town or the Police Chief.

Section 12.

The Association agrees, to the extent possible, that all grievances or complaints shall be processed during non-working time, and the Town agrees that when the circumstances require, permission to process grievances or complaints during working hours shall not unreasonably be withheld.

ARTICLE X

STEWARDS

The Town and the Association agree that any member may file a grievance with the Chief of Police if he/she feels a violation of the contract exists. A copy of the grievance shall be forwarded to all members not filing such grievance.

The Town recognizes the right of the Association to designate a Steward from the seniority list of its regular employees. The authority of the Steward so designated by the Association shall be, but not limited to:

Section 1.

The investigation and presentation of the grievance in accordance with provisions of the collective bargaining agreement.

Section 2.

The transmission of such messages and information which originate with and are authorized by the Association or its officers, provided such messages and information have been reduced to writing, or if not reduced to writing are of a routine nature.

Section 3.

Processing of grievances by either Lt. shall be allowed during his normal duty hours as is reasonably necessary except in the case of emergencies as determined by the Chief. If such emergencies have been declared, then the Association member may have additional extended time to file such grievance.

ARTICLE XI

POSTING OF TIME

The Town, through the Chief of Police or his representative agrees to electronically or via written notice post all court time, holidays, sick leave, overtime, or any other time owed Association members. The Chief of Police or his representative shall maintain a complete record of all court time, holidays, work schedule, sick leave, overtime, or any other time due an Association member. The above posting will be made available to association members on a monthly basis.

ARTICLE XII

BEREAVEMENT

Section 1.

In the event of a death occurring in the immediate family of an employee, such employee shall be entitled to receive bereavement leave without loss of pay for the purpose of attending funeral services, arranging for burial, and attending to family affairs. It is understood these bereavement days must be days upon which the employee is regularly scheduled to work.

Section 2.

Any employee who suffers the loss through death of his father, mother, sister, brother, spouse, child, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, step-parents, step brothers and sisters, sons-in-law, daughters-in-law and grandchildren shall be granted a leave of absence not to exceed five (5) days on any one occasion to attend the funeral or any other business related thereto for which the employee shall be paid for said time not in excess of eight (8) hours per day

at his regular rate. Two (2) days shall be granted for death of grandparents to be paid as specified above.

Section 3.

The Chief of Police may, at his discretion, provide for such additional leave without loss of pay provided such leave is necessary for the employee.

Section 4.

After fifteen (15) days in a year, each day in excess of fifteen (15) days will be deducted from accumulated sick leave.

Section 5.

In the event an employee requires leave for a death in his family not covered by this article, the Chief of Police may, at his discretion and with the employee's approval, grant such leave as is necessary and deduct such time used from any personal days granted, or if in excess of personal days allowed, may be deducted from sick leave or vacation leave due to the employee.

Section 6.

Any person who is actually a member of and living in the employee's house through a tie of relationship, obligation or friendship will be allowed one day off with the approval of the Chief.

ARTICLE XIII

TEMPORARY SERVICE OUT OF RANK

Section 1.

In the event the Chief is not immediately available to perform his duties, he shall designate the senior Lieutenant to serve as the Officer in Charge. The Chief will make the determination as to when he is unavailable. In the event the Chief is unavailable for a period exceeding thirty (30) days, the position shall be filled on an interim basis according to Civil Service regulations pertaining to provisional or temporary appointments. When serving as the officer in Charge or Acting Chief of Police, the officer shall be compensated at the rate of pay equal to the Chief's first step pay grade or at the second step when serving for a period greater than one year, or third step when serving for a period greater than two years.

Section 2.

Said compensation shall be included in the employee's payroll check for the week in which the temporary service pay was earned.

ARTICLE XIV

LEAVE OF ABSENCE AND SPECIAL LEAVE

Section 1.

Leave of absence without loss of pay shall be permitted for the following reasons in accordance with the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 31, Section 46E as amended:

- A. Promotional examinations conducted under Civil Service law and rule for promotion to any position in the service of the Pembroke Police Department, these exams oral or written.
- B. Medical examinations for retirement purposes.
- C. Blood donations adequate time will be allowed without loss of pay to include donating and recovery time, as approved by the Chief.

Section 2.

Each employee shall be granted special leave with pay for a day on which he is able to secure another employee to work in his place provided:

- A. Such substitution does not impose any additional cost to the Town with approval of the Chief of Police or his designee.
- B. The Chief or officer in charge shall be notified not less than twenty-four (24) hours prior to its becoming effective, except in the case of emergency notification may be made by telephone.
- C. No special leave will be granted to allow any police officer to work an outside detail.

Section 3.

Any Association member shall be entitled during his/her service in the armed forces of the Commonwealth or during his/her annual tour of duty as a member of a reserve component of the armed forces of the United States not exceeding forty (40) days to receive the difference between his/her pay as an employee or official of the Town of Pembroke and the amount received as a result of military tour of duty if his/her pay from the Town of Pembroke is the greater sum. Time off for military leave will be granted without loss of vacation leave.

ARTICLE XV - A

OVERTIME

Section 1.

The Town and the Association agree that overtime is all assigned authorized or approved service outside of or out-of-turn of an employee's regularly scheduled tour of duty or shift, including service on an employee's scheduled day off or during his vacation and service performed either prior to the scheduled starting time or subsequent to the scheduled quitting time of his regular tour of duty and service.

Section 2.

The Town and the Association further agree that overtime shall be defined as any and all work paid by the Town performed by police officers in addition to the regular work week to include, but not limited to, filling in for officers who are on sick leave or sick days, vacation days, court attendance, bereavement leave, attendance at police schools or police academy, investigations, or special duties, and any other leave legally granted by the Town and to include Town Meetings and elections.

Section 3.

Said overtime pay shall be included in the employee's payroll check for the week in which the overtime pay was earned.

Section 4.

All assignments for overtime or extra shifts will be made by the Chief of Police or his designee.

Section 5.

Association Members shall not be required to accept compensatory time off in lieu of monetary compensation for overtime service, unless they so desire to accumulate the time and take the time off at a later date.

Section 6.

Posted scheduled work shifts or tours of duty and days off schedules of individual employees or groups of employees will not be changed, altered or modified for the purpose of avoiding the payment of overtime.

Section 7.

An Association Member committed to his regular tour of duty or outside detail is not eligible for overtime or extra shifts, but would maintain his name on the list. Association Members shall be given maximum possible advance notice of overtime and extra shift assignments.

Section 8.

All assigned overtime, extra shifts, and scheduled vacations shall be posted on a chart or via computer records except in emergency situations. Said chart or computer records shall contain sufficient information to determine whether assignments are being made in accordance with the provisions of this contract.

Section 9.

All Association Members shall be given at least four (4) hours advance notice of overtime work opportunities except in the case of emergency. Scheduled overtime shall be posted and distributed to all Association Members on a rotating basis. Association Members shall have the option of declining overtime unless the list becomes exhausted except in the case of an immediate emergency. All Association Members shall be afforded the opportunity of accepting overtime service, but there shall be no discrimination against any Association Member who declines to work overtime on a voluntary basis.

Section 10.

Association Members shall not be required to suspend work in regular hours to absorb overtime.

Section 11.

All overtime will be distributed fairly and equitably among Lieutenants. For the purpose of this section, the fair and equitable distribution of overtime shall include the Chief's right to assign an Association Member to work overtime based on the member's qualification and/or duty assignment.

Section 12.

Overtime for shift replacement shall be distributed using a rotating list of all Association Members. The Member accepting said overtime shall have his/her name placed at the bottom of the list. Said list shall be provided to all members of the Association.

ARTICLE XV - B

COURT TIME

Section 1.

Any employee on duty at night, or on vacation, or on a day off, or on an authorized leave of absence, who attends as a witness or in another capacity in the performance of his duty in a criminal matter or a civil matter in any case pending in any District Court, Juvenile Court, or any Superior Court, or before any Grand Jury proceeding, or in conference with the District Attorney, or any Assistant District Attorney, or at any pre-trial conference, or any other related hearing or proceeding, or any Registry of Motor Vehicles hearing, or who is required or requested by any City, County, Town, State or Federal Government, or any of the subdivisions or agencies of any of the foregoing, to attend or appear before any department, agency, board, commission division or authority or official of the State or Federal Government or subdivision or agency of any of the foregoing or who attends as a witness or in any other capacity in the performance of his duty for the Government of the United States, the Commonwealth or the Town in a criminal matter or civil matter or any other case pending in a Federal District Court, or before a Grand Jury proceeding, or a United States Commissioner, or a conference with the United States Attorney, or any Assistant United States Attorney or at any pre-trial conference, or any other related hearing or proceeding, at the request of the administration, shall be entitled to overtime compensation for

every hour or fraction thereof during which he was in such attendance or appearance, but in no event less than four (4) hours such pay on an overtime service basis, provided, however, that if he so attends or appears during any one day, on more than one such occasion, he shall be entitled to such additional pay from the time of first such attendance on such day to the time of last attendance on last such day. Provided, further, that if any such occasion occurs on a holiday which falls on an employee's day off or during his vacation, the employee shall receive the additional pay due him under the holiday and vacation provisions of this Agreement.

Section 2.

Employees should not be required to appear in court during their scheduled vacation leave.

Section 3.

The prosecuting officer shall try to arrange court appearances at the convenience of the arresting officer and not during vacations when possible.

Section 4.

Employees shall not be required to wait for any witness fees due them for attendance in any court as a result of performance of their duties. Employees shall be paid for their attendance in any such court by the Town under the provisions of this article. Any witness fees due the employee from his attendance in said courts shall accrue to the Town once the Town has paid the employee for his attendance.

Section 5.

Employees shall not be required to accept compensatory time off in lieu of monetary compensation for overtime service resulting from court appearances.

Section 6.

If an officer is required to be present both morning and afternoon, that is after 12 noon time, he shall be allowed a meal allowance of ten (10) dollars.

Section 7.

Said court time shall be included in the employee's payroll check of the week in which the court time pay was earned.

Section 8.

All court attendance under an overtime basis shall be compensated at a minimum of four (4) hours at time and one-half, in accordance with the FLSA.

ARTICLE XVI

OUTSIDE DETAILS

Pursuant to state law, the determination of the level of services, as well as the assignment of public safety employees, is what the courts refer to as non-delegable exclusive managerial prerogatives. The Town of Pembroke and the Pembroke Police Union acknowledge that the

Chief of Police possesses the discretion to determine the appropriate level of police service as well as the qualifications of persons to perform traffic direction in the Town to ensure public safety. Therefore, notwithstanding any regulation to the contrary, the Chief of Police has the discretion to require the presence of a sworn police officer, including but not limited to one employed on a paid detail basis, in all instances where there is a street opening or any work to be done on a public way or at a public function in the Town. The parties also acknowledge that the Chief of Police has the further discretion to determine the number and ranks of officers assigned in any such instance necessary to maintain public safety or other legitimate interest of the community or department.

Section 1.

The following provisions shall confirm the assignment of extra duty details for full time regular Civil Service appointed police officers where the detail is to be paid by outside individuals, groups, corporations, organizations, or municipal departments.

Section 1A.

Road details (road jobs) shall be compensated at a four (4) hour minimum. Any Road Detail that extends beyond the four (4) hour minimum shall be paid eight (8) hours. This section shall not apply to any other details that are not Road Details; Town Details, and Town Road Details or overtime assignments.

Section 2.

All regular officers will signify in writing their desire to accept outside details. A current rotating list of officers desiring outside details will be maintained at Police Headquarters. Exchanging of outside details by officers may be made if approved by the Chief of Police or his designee.

Section 3.

All assignments to outside details shall be made by the Chief of Police or his designee. All details will be distributed fairly and equitably to all members of the unit and as to the number of details, type, and compensation. No Officer shall be assigned to an outside detail who has been on sick leave during the previous 8 (eight) hours. Family sick days excluded.

Section 4.

Any employee who performs a paying detail not officially assigned by the Department and recorded and posted as required by this Agreement, will not be protected by the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 41, Sections 100 and 111F as amended.

Section 5.

First preference shall be given to full time regular Civil Service appointed police officers of the Police Department on all details.

Section 6.

The employee shall be given the maximum possible advance notice of available detail duty. This should be a minimum of eight (8) hours notice or immediately after the request for officers is received by the authorized officer, whenever possible.

Section 7.

If a detail is canceled and the customer fails to notify the police department at least two (2) hours prior to the start of the detail, the customer shall be charged up to four (4) hours pay.

Section 8.

Said detail pay shall be included in the employee's payroll check for the week in which the detail pay was earned. If payment of an outside detail would cause a deficit in the revolving account, payment shall be deferred until the deficit has been resolved by the receipt of sufficient funds.

Section 9.

Employees shall not be required to accept compensatory time off in lieu of monetary compensation for details worked.

Section 10.

A police officer committed to his regular tour of duty is not eligible for outside details, but he would maintain his name on the list.

Section 11.

All assigned details shall be posted on a chart and placed on the bulletin board at Police Headquarters. Said chart shall contain sufficient information to determine whether detail assignments are being made in accordance with the provisions of this regulation.

Section 12.

All road jobs (involving construction where the detail is deemed appropriate) worked on Saturday and/or Sunday and/or legal holidays will be paid at the rate of double time the maximum patrolman's pay.

Section 13.

Outside details will be paid at the rate of time and one-half the maximum patrolman's pay. In situations where four (4) men or more are involved in a detail, the senior patrolman in charge or the superior officer in charge on the case shall receive an additional one dollar per hour for the detail.

Section 14.

Any employee working a detail or road job in excess of eight (8) continuous hours in duration shall be paid double time the maximum patrolman's pay for the hours in excess of 8 hours and any employee working a road job, or any part of one, between the hours of 10:00 P.M and 6:00 A.M. will be paid at the rate of double time the maximum patrolman's rate.

Section 15.

Any employee assigned to work any detail involving labor strikes or labor disputes, the employee will be paid at the rate of double the maximum patrolman's pay except in the following situations in which the employee will be paid at time and ½ of the maximum officer's pay; strikes/disputes involving employees of the town of Pembroke, vacant or on occupied buildings, municipally owned buildings and/or property.

ARTICLE XVI-A

OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

The Association agrees that officers will not engage in any outside employment that is a conflict of interest with employment by the Town of Pembroke Police Department. The Town agrees that officers will not be restricted in outside employment unless that employment conflicts with their employment by the Pembroke Police Department. Questions relating to conflicts of interest shall be resolved by the State Ethics Commission.

ARTICLE XVII

SENIORITY

Section 1.

Seniority in rank will start with the date of full time permanent Civil Service appointment to the Pembroke Police Department.

Section 2.

In the case of the same permanent full time seniority date, prior intermittent time for the Town of Pembroke will be used to make the distinction and if the same, the mark on the Civil Service examination will be used to make the distinction.

Section 3.

All advancement for promotion in the Pembroke Police Deaprtment shall be in accordance with Civil Services practices to include competitive exams, assessment centers, or a combination of both as determined by the appointing authority.

Section 4.

A seniority list for the Pembroke Police Department shall be submitted to the Association upon written request.

ARTICLE XVIII

HOLIDAYS

The following will be observed as paid non-working days: New Years Day, Martin Luther King Day, Washington's Birthday*, Patriot's Day*, Memorial Day*, Independence Day, Labor Day, Columbus Day*, Veteran's Day*, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

*As observed in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Section 1.

If a regular work day of a full time police officer occurs on any of the holidays listed above and he is required to work on said date, he shall be entitled to either an additional day's pay or an additional day off.

Section 2.

Any officer working any shift on December 25, or from 4 p.m. to 12 midnight on December 24 and 31, or 12 midnight to 8 a.m. on January 1, will be paid double time in addition to any holiday pay. Additionally, any officer who works Thanksgiving Day, any shift shall receive double time in addition to holiday pay.

Section 3.

In the case of any such police officer whose regular day off (or vacation day) occurs on any of the above holidays, he shall be entitled to either an additional day's pay or an additional day off. The determination as to whether an additional days pay or an additional day off shall be received in both of the above situations shall be made by the Chief of Police.

Section 4.

Any officer requested to march in a parade by the Chief of Police shall be compensated at the rate of time and one half his regular rate of pay in accordance with the FLSA.

Section 5.

When a police officer is required to work on any holiday provided by law, the regular work of an officer shall not be changed.

Section 6.

When an employee ceases to be a member of the Pembroke police force, he shall be entitled to holiday pay that he has accrued.

Section 7.

Holidays that fall between June 1 and November 30 shall be paid on the first pay day in December. Holidays that fall between December 1 and May 31, shall be paid on the first pay day in June.

Section 8.

When any of the aforementioned holidays falls during any period of an employee's paid injured leave, he shall receive for such holiday, in addition to his regular weekly compensation, an additional day's pay computed as one-fifth (1/5) of his regular weekly compensation. (G.L. 147 17A)

ARTICLE XIX

VACATIONS

Police officers shall be granted annual vacations without loss of pay as follows if the police officer has occupied a full time position in the police department and has been in continuous service for the Town for not less than twelve (12) months.

After 1 year but less the	han 5	ten paid days
5 years but less than 1	0	15 paid days
10 years but less than 2	20	20 paid days
20 years and more	(eff. 7/1/94)	25 paid days

Effective July 1, 1995, (Fiscal Year '96), any employee of the bargaining unit who reaches their 16th year will be granted 21 paid days and in their 17th year will be granted 22 days and in their 18th year will be granted 23 paid days and in their 19th year will be granted 24 paid days and in their 20th year, and each subsequent year will be granted 25 paid days. Every employee occupying a full time position will be granted an additional five (5) working days vacation in the twentieth (20th) year of employment and an additional ten (10) working days vacation in the twenty-fifth (25th) year of employment: these additional vacation days will be granted in the anniversary year for one year only.

Section 1.

Regular days off will not be considered vacation days arising during the officer's vacation schedule.

Section 2.

Vacations will be granted on a seniority basis provided a 48-hour notice is given. The Chief may approve vacation requests with less than a 48-hour notice. Association Members may lock in vacation time in advance by notifying the Chief and all Association Members of the vacation time he/she intends to take. Provided there is no conflict with the Chief or other Members of the Association, the vacation time will be granted.

Section 3.

Allowance will be made for an officer to split his vacation as to weeks and days anytime within the schedule if he so desires and with approval of the Chief of Police.

Section 4.

Vacations not taken in the fiscal year in which they are due shall accumulate from year to year but not beyond the third fiscal year in which it was earned but not to exceed one (1) week per year.

Section 5.

Each employee shall have the option of requesting that he be paid his full vacation pay in advance by one (1) week's written notice to the Chief to such effect. Payment to be made last pay day prior to vacation.

Section 6.

If an employee because of illness or accident, is unable to begin his vacation when scheduled, the employee shall notify the Chief of Police in advance of the date when his vacation is to begin, and his vacation will be rescheduled in the best manner possible.

Section 7.

Upon death of an employee who is eligible for vacation under this article, payment shall be made to the estate of the deceased in an amount equal to the vacation allowance as accrued in the vacation years prior to the employee's death but which had not been granted. In addition, payment shall be made for that portion of the vacation allowance earned in the vacation year during which the employee died, up to the time of his separation from the payroll.

Section 8.

Employees who are eligible for vacation under this article and whose services are terminated by dismissal through no fault or delinquency of their own, by resignation (if two (2) weeks notice has been given previously), or by retirement, or by entrance into the Armed Forces, shall be paid an amount equal to the vacation allowance as earned in the vacation years prior to such dismissal, resignation with notice, retirement or entrance into the Armed Forces, but not granted. In addition, payment shall be made for that portion of vacation allowance earned in the vacation year during which such dismissal, resignation with notice, retirement or entrance into the Armed Forces occurred up to the time of the employee's separation from the payroll.

Section 9.

Vacations will be computed according to each fiscal year and will be granted on July 1 of each year.

Section 10.

The Chief or his designee should make an effort to schedule court appearances of employees covered by this Agreement so that such appearances will not interfere or interrupt the employee's vacation.

Section 11.

Military leave shall be granted in accordance with the Military Pay Act of 2003. Military leave not to exceed thirty-four (34) days for training and deployment will be granted at full pay. Additional leave for deployment will be granted, and the difference in pay will be paid by the Town. Time off for military leave will be granted without loss of vacation time.

Section 12.

Every effort will be made to allow swapping of days when an officer is required to attend weekend drills.

Section 13.

Employees of the Police Department may sell back to the Town their excess vacation time as follows:

10 days earned per year - sell back 0 days 15 days earned per year - sell back 5 days 20 days earned per year - sell back 15 days

Vacation days sold back to the Town will be at the employees straight time rate, subject to the approval of the Chief of Police with payment being made within thirty (30) days of the approval.

ARTICLE XX

HOURS OF WORK AND CONDITIONS

Section 1.

Association Members will be assigned to a schedule as determined and set by the Chief. This schedule shall provide the same number of days off during any given year as those officers who work a 4 and 2 work week.

The regular hours of work shall be as follows:

Shift 2 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Monday thru Friday Shift 3 4:00 p.m. to 12:00 midnight Monday thru Friday

Section 2.

A member's work schedule will run for consecutive hours except in the case of an emergency.

Section 3.

Association members shall be granted reasonable time off for meals.

Section 4.

Except as provided in section 5 of this Article, the schedule of Lieutenants will be set thirty days in advance and shall remain in effect for at least 30 days. These shifts may be changed without notice provided an agreement is reached between the Chief and the Lieutenants. Shift changes shall be administered every six months (approximately) in the spring and fall, or by agreement between the Chief and the Association.

Section 5.

The Chief may change the schedule of the Lieutenant(s) for the purpose of sending the Lieutenant(s) to training, excluding the annual Massachusetts Criminal Justice Training Council's In-Service Training, with at least 30 days notice, but if less than 30 days notice, it must be agreed to by the Lieutenant(s). The Chief shall make a reasonable effort to give as much notice as possible before a Lieutenant(s) work schedule is changed. Upon completion of the training the Lieutenant shall return to his regular assigned schedule.

ARTICLE XXI

INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT

The present plan for Superior Officers and their dependents shall remain in force unless changes are made and deductions for the Superior Officer's share shall be deducted as the Town Treasurer determines.

Section 1.

The Town agrees that this article of the Agreement shall be reopened for collective bargaining between the Town and the Association should any change occur in the insurance benefits available to Town employees; such as the Town deciding by a vote of the Town at Town Meetings or on the ballot, or by decision of the Selectmen to increase the Town's share of contribution of payment to the current Blue Cross/Blue Shield Master Medical plan or other current health insurance plans offered by the town or to add additional benefit options to this plan.

Section 2.

The Town and the Association agree that the present method of contribution to the Plymouth County Retirement Association by employees toward pension upon retirement shall be continued in full force and effect.

Section 3.

Effective July 1, 2017, All Association members shall contribute 25% of premiums with the Town contributing 75% of premiums of any health insurance plan offered by the Town.

ARTICLE XXII

SICK LEAVE

The Chief of Police may request (at the Town's expense) medical evidence of illness or injury when absence relating to said illness or injury exceeds three (3) consecutive days, or when sick leave use exceeds ten (10) days in a year.

Section 1.

The Town and the Association acknowledges that the over use of sick leave creates an inherent risk to fellow officers and impedes the effectiveness and efficiency of police operations. The following procedures are not designed to invade the privacy of a Lieutenant who is truly ill, but to assist the Chief in managing sick time use.

- 1. The member who is going to be absent from duty for reasons which entitle him to sick leave, shall notify the Desk as soon as he becomes aware that he will be unable to report to duty. If the sick day has been scheduled prior to the shift, the call will not be necessary. The member need not state the nature or the reason for the absence to the Desk but must state the nature or the reason for the absence to the Chief of Police or his designee upon his request.
- 2. The officer receiving the notification of sick leave must complete the Sick Leave Notice Form.
- 3. The Police Chief (or designee) may, at the town's expense, require the member to submit a statement or medical opinion from a physician selected by the Town regarding the officer's ability to return to work.
- 4. Upon returning to work after any sickness, the member shall complete the Officer's section of the Sick Leave Notice Form and forward it to the Police Chief.
- 5. After initial approval of sick leave, a member who continues to be physically unable to perform his normal duties shall be requested to present each thirty days a physician's statement to the Police Chief confirming the member's continued inability to perform his normal duties. Nothing in this section shall limit the Town's rights under Section 4 or Article XXII-C.
- 6. Nothing in the provisions of this Article shall be construed to limit neither the Police Chief's nor his designee's authority to conduct follow-up inquiry of the officer's claim of sickness or injury.

Section 2.

Sick leave shall be considered to be absence from duty without loss of pay for the following reasons:

- 1. Illness or injury, which did not occur while on duty.
- 2. When an employee is required to undergo emergency medical, optical or dental treatment when such treatment cannot be accomplished on off duty hours.
- 1. When the serious illness of an employee's immediate family requires his personal attendance, not to exceed seven (7) days in one year can be extended at the Chief's discretion. The exact nature of the illness need not be disclosed.
- 2. After officer has exceeded limit allowed in Article XII-Bereavement.

Section 3.

Full time police officers are entitled to fifteen (15) scheduled working days sick leave per year to be granted as of July 1 of each year if a police officer has completed a minimum of six (6) months service in the Town. Annual sick leave benefits may be accumulated up to two hundred and twenty-five (225) days.

Section 4.

Sick leave will be granted on July 1 for use at any time during the next year.

Section 5.

Employees whose services have been terminated because of retirement shall be paid for fifty (50%) percent of all accumulated sick time in a lump sum at the prevailing rate of pay on the date of such termination of services payable within sixty (60) days of retirement.

Section 6.

In the event of the death of any employee, one hundred (100%) percent of all accumulated sick leave shall be paid in a lump sum at the prevailing rate of pay to the estate of the employee payable within sixty (60) days of death.

Section 7.

In the event an officer dies as the result of injuries received in the line of duty his estate will be paid 100% of the accumulated sick leave within 60 days of death.

Section 8.

There shall be no loss of sick leave when an officer is granted injury leave and/or light duty under Article XXII-C (Injury on Duty/Light Duty) of this Agreement.

Section 9.

Sick leave shall accumulate during leaves of absence with pay and during the time an employee is on authorized sick leave or vacation.

Section 10.

In order to financially cover police officers who are unable to work due to non-occupational injury or illness for an extended period of time, the Town and the Association agree to institute a sick leave bank which will be governed by the following rules and regulations:

A Funding

- 1. On February 1, 1983 each police officer will contribute one (1) day of his accumulated sick leave time to the bank and this will be matched by the Town on a two-to-one basis. If an officer has no accumulated sick leave as of February 1, 1983, he will contribute that one (1) day whenever he first accrues additional sick leave time and the Town will put two (2) days into the bank at that time.
- 2. On July 1, 1983 each police officer will contribute one (1) day of his accumulated sick leave time to the bank and this will be matched by the Town on a one-to-one basis. This is in addition to any contribution made to the bank as noted in A-1 above.
- 3. On the first day of each fiscal year, beginning on July 1, 1984, each officer will contribute one (1) day of his accumulated sick leave time to the bank. This section would only be used if the total number of days in the bank was less than one hundred twenty (120) on the first day of that fiscal year.

B. Eligibility

- 1. All police officers must contribute to the bank.
- 2. To draw sick leave benefits from the bank a police officer must meet the following minimum requirements:
 - a. Have accumulated thirty (30) days of sick leave time as of the previous June 30.
 - b. Use all available accumulated sick leave, personal days and vacation time.
 - c. Be absent more than one (1) week.
- d. If absence occurs through start of another fiscal year, use any sick leave credited on July 1 of that year, minus any days contributed to the bank as spelled out in other sections of the sick leave bank provision.
- 3. Any officer who originally satisfied B-2 (a) above, but whose accumulated sick leave falls below thirty (30) days due to an extended illness without drawing from the sick leave bank, will remain eligible for the bank benefits as long as he had averaged at least seven (7) days accumulation of sick leave time per fiscal year following that extended illness. This extended illness must be at least one (1) week in length and this continued eligibility is subject to the majority approval of the committee members present.

C. Draw

- 1. If a police officer has satisfied the requirements listed in B. above, he will be eligible to apply for up to (60) work days maximum coverage per fiscal year and/or incident at one hundred percent (100%) of normal base pay, which will start on the first regular work day after B-2(b) and (c) and C-3 are satisfied.
- 2. For each day a police officer is out and draws on the bank as noted in C-1 above, one (1) full day will be removed from the bank.
- 3. Either the police officer, or an Association official in his behalf, must request in writing that he be paid from the sick leave bank no later than two (2) weeks prior to potentially receiving benefits. The sick leave bank committee will review this request within two (2) weeks and the benefits will be allowed if so voted by a majority of the committee present.
- 4. Each case for which benefits have been allowed must be reviewed by the committee at least every four (4) weeks and in each case the committee must by majority approval, vote to continue payment from the sick leave bank as allowed under C-1.
- 5. The committee may vote during any review to meet earlier than four (4) weeks on any particular case. In each review, the committee must vote to continue or discontinue further payments under C-1 and a majority must approve for benefits to continue. Any motion to meet on a particular case sooner than four (4) weeks will be adopted unless a majority of the committee oppose such a motion.

D. Payback

- 1. Each police officer who draws from the sick leave bank must return the days drawn from the bank in the following manner:
- a. On July 1 of each fiscal year after completing drawing from the bank, contribute at least seven (7) days of sick leave accrued until the total days drawn are returned. This is in addition to any contribution made in other sick leave bank provisions.
- b. On retirement or death, any balance of days drawn from the bank not yet returned will be taken from any accumulated sick leave, if any.
- 2. In addition to D-1 (a) above, this officer has the option of contributing unused vacation days to the bank as part of his payback.
- 3. Any officer who has initially met the eligibility requirement under B-2 (a) and has drawn from the sick leave bank will continue to be eligible for the bank benefits if he is still returning days to the bank under D-1(a) above or has satisfied that requirement and has averaged at least seven (7) days accumulation of sick leave time per fiscal year after completing that payback requirement, or satisfies Section B-2(a).

E. Sick Leave Bank Committee

- 1. The committee will be comprised of six (6) members, three (3) representing the Town and three (3) representing the Association and Pembroke Police Union. This committee will meet as stated under A through D of the sick leave bank provisions and each member will have one vote on any motion or request for benefits. The Town will be represented by the three (3) members of the Wage and Personnel Board or other individuals approved by the Board of Selectmen.
- 2. Any decision of this committee will not be subject to the grievance procedure or any litigation.
- 3. The committee cannot authorize payment of sick leave benefits in excess of the number of days available in the sick leave bank at that time. If necessary, the committee may by majority approval authorize additional contributions by the police officers to the sick leave bank if the bank contains less than sixty (60) days.

Section 11.

A full time officer on sick leave, drawing sick leave, is entitled to full pay for any holiday that may occur during that period.

Section 12.

Nothing in this article shall be construed to conflict with Section 100 of Chapter 41 of the Massachusetts General Laws.

Section 13.

An employee may sell up to ten (10) sick days per year back to the Town for compensation at a rate of one (1) days pay for every one days sold.

ARTICLE XXII-A

DRUG AND ALCOHOL USE

- A. Alcohol/Drug Prohibition As a condition of employment, no alcohol or illegal drugs shall be used or possessed, except as authorized by the Chief of Police in the performance of an officer's duties, or in the transporation of contraband, by an officer during the work shift of an officer, including all breaks and lunch periods.
- **B.** Disciplinary Action Failure to comply with this Article shall subject the officer to disciplinary action up to and including termination.
- C. Serious Incidents An officer involved in an incident on the job which is serious, life threatening, or involves serious bodily injury may be tested.

D. Procedures:

- 1. Consistent with the foregoing, the Chief of Police may order an officer to submit to drug or alcohol test if *reasonable suspicion* exists. Reasonable suspicion is a belief based on objective facts sufficient to lead a reasonably prudent person to suspect that an employee is using or is under the influence of drugs or alcohol so that the officer's ability to perform his/her duties is impaired. Reasonable suspicion shall be based upon information of objective facts obtained by the department and the rational inferences that may be drawn from those facts. The information, the degree of corroboration, the results of the investigation or injury and/or other factors shall be weighted in determining the presence or absence of reasonable suspicion.
- 2. In the case where reasonable suspicion exists to believe that an officer has used or is under the influence of a drug, the officer may be subject to urinalysis, blood, or hair testing.
- 3. In the case where reasonable suspicion exists to believe that an officer has used or is under the influence of alcohol, the officer may be subject of urinalysis, blood, or infrared machine testing (i.e., breathalyzer or intoxilyzer machines). For the purpose of this paragraph, retrograde extrapolation may be used to estimate an officer's blood alcohol level at a particular time.
- 4. A testing laboratory of the Town's choice shall administer such drug and alcohol testing except in the case of infrared testing, by a trained infrared machine operator. A qualified physician or technician of the Town's choice will take samples, except in the case of infrared testing, by a trained infrared machine operator.
- 5. All testing shall be done at the sole expense of the Town. In the event that the officer tests positive, the officer may be immediately relieved of duty with vacation, sick payand/or other compensable leave pending completion by him/her of a Town approved drug rehabilitation program. An officer's refusal in such event to participate in said program may result in his/her being disciplined up to and including termination.

6. After successful completion of the drug or alcohol rehabilitation program and return to duty, the officer may be subject to follow-up "reasonable suspicion" drug testing for a period of two (2) years, and, if the officer is found to have used the specified non-prescription drugs, he shall be subject to immediate disciplinary proceedings, including termination.

E. Impairment by Prescription Medicine:

1. An officer shall notify the Chief of Police when required to use prescription medicine that the officer has been informed may impair job performance. The officer shall advise the

The Supreme Judicial Court in Commonealth v. Senior, ___Mass.___(2001), accepted retrograde extrapolation as a reliable method of determining blood alcohol levels at a particular time.

Chief of the know side effects of such medication and the prescribed period of use. The Chief shall document this information in a secure file. The officer may be temporarily reassigned to a light duty assignment, or prohibited from working, where appropriate, while using prescription medicine that may impair job performance or create unsafe working conditions. An officer prohibited from working may utilize sick leave or be placed on unpaid leave of absence if sick leave is not available.

Note: Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the Chief's authority to discipline an officer for violating the provision of the Department Rules and Regulations governing alcohol use and possession while on duty.

ARTICLE XXII-AA

MATERNITY LEAVE/FAMILY LEAVE

The provisions of the Family Medical Leave Act, so-called, are hereby incorporated in this Agreement by reference. Whenever an officer becomes pregnant she shall in addition to the provisions of said Act be granted an additional fifteen (15) days off with pay which shall be used within one (1) year from the medical diagnosis of pregnancy and not thereafter or carried over. An officer taking any Family Medical or three (3) or more consecutive pregnancy leave days shall give such notice of his/her anticipated date of departure as is reasonable under the circumstances.

ARTICLE XXII-B

PERSONAL LEAVE

Members of the Association shall be entitled to three (3) days of leave per year with full pay to attend to personal needs. When an officer receives a commendation for "service above and beyond the call of duty", as recommended by the Chief and approved by the Board of Selectmen, he will receive a bonus day off of his choice as approved by the Chief or his designee.

ARTICLE XXII - C

INJURY ON DUTY/LIGHT DUTY

Section 1.

In accordance with MGLC 41, S111f, whenever a police officer is incapacitated for duty because of an injury sustained in the performance of his duty, or a police officer assigned to special duty by his superior officer, whether or not he is paid for such special duty by the Town,

is so incapacitated because of injuries so sustained, he shall be granted leave without loss of pay for the period of such incapacity as herein provided.

Section 2.

A police officer so incapacitated for duty because of injury sustained in the performance of his duty shall notify the Chief or such person as the Chief shall designate as to the circumstances of his injury and the extent of his incapacity. When the police officer does notify the Chief, the Town agrees it will grant him leave without loss of pay until such time as the Town determines, that for whatever reason, it is going to deny his claim. In the event the Town denies the employee's claim it will forthwith notify the employee of the denial and he may elect to pursue his claim through arbitration or the courts, but not both (there is no waiver of either party's right to seek to vacate an arbitrator's award pursuant to GLC 150c). If an employee's claim is denied, a corresponding deduction from available sick leave will be made for the number of days of paid leave pending the Town's denial of the claim.

Section 3.

Employees claiming paid injured leave under this Article, or seeking indemnification under MGL C41, Section 100 or related Sections, shall be required, as a condition of eligibility for such compensation or reimbursement, to do the following:

- a) provide affirmative evidence of compliance with each required element set forth in Sections 1 and 2;
- b) notify the Chief of any change in medical condition, including any hospitalization;
- provide relevant medical documentation pertinent to the diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment of the injury or illness for which compensation or reimbursement is claimed, including doctor's certificates;
- d) provide for billing the Town on a monthly basis or as nearly thereto as possible;
- e) appear voluntarily for any examination or re-examination by a physician designated by the Town Administrator (or appointing authority), at the Town's expense. Excaberation or reappearance of prior symptoms of illness or injury must be processed in accordance with Sections 1, 2 and 3 above notwithstanding any prior determination of eligibility.

Section 4.

Light duty - the Town's physician may determine an employee is capable of performing light duty under this Article. In the event that the employee's physician and the Town's physician disagree as to the employee's ability to perform light duty, the Association and the Town will arrange for an examination of the officer by a neutral physician appropriately specialized in the field of the injury. Said neutral physician shall examine the employee (and require the employee to be examined by such other specialists as he deems appropriate) and shall render an opinion as to whether or not the employee is incapacitated, whether the employee may perform any of the

light duty tasks as determined below and the duration of such duties. The neutral physician shall be asked to make a determination of the fitness of the examined employee to perform light duty based on the specific physical requirements of each light duty task, and his report shall specify which, if any, light duty task(s) the examined employee is capable of performing. Said neutral physician's determinations as to those matters shall be binding on all parties. At any time following the neutral physician's original determination, the Town or the employee may request the physician to review the continuing status of the officer's incapacity and/or ability to perform light duty tasks. Pending receipt of the neutral physician's determination, the employee shall continue to be on injured-on-duty status in accordance with MGL, C41, S111F. If the neutral physician determines that the employee is capable of performing any light duty task(s), the employee shall report for light duty as ordered by the Chief. If the neutral physician determines that the employee is not capable of performing any light duty task, the employee shall continue on injured-on-duty status in accordance with MGLC41, S111F.

Section 5.

Disputes under Section 4 through 16 of this Article shall be handled solely under the grievance and arbitration procedure of this Agreement.

Section 6.

Limited duty tasks shall include all the duties normally performed by an Association Member so long as the performance of any given duty does not exacerbate an injury or illness, does not impede or impair the speedy recovery from an illness or injury, and does not cause any unnecessary pain and suffering.

Section 7.

The Town agrees to pay all reasonable costs associated with any appropriate examination(s) of an employee by the neutral physician, or any other specialist recommended by the neutral physician, pursuant to this Article.

Section 8.

Light duty assignments shall not affect the shift assignments, or shift bids, of other employees. Employees assigned to light duty pursuant to section 4 above shall be assigned to the same shift as their assignment before the injury' provided however, in the event an employee is already assigned to light duty on a particular shift and another employee injured on duty also regularly assigned to that shift subsequently becomes able to perform light duty, the senior employee shall have the option of remaining on his scheduled shift, or opting for the alternative assignment if he so desires. Scheduled Rehab hours will be deducted from that officer's tour of duty for that day, travel time included.

Section 9.

The Town and the Association agree that no sergeant or officer who is assigned to light duty is capable of performing the duties of shift commander. Therefore, the senior officer on full duty shall assume the duties of shift commander and be compensated in accordance with the provisions of Article 8 of the contract.

Section 10.

An employee whose shift assignment prior to the injury entitled him/her to the night shift differential shall still be paid night shift differential for any shift assignments while on light duty status.(i.e. An officer regularly assigned to a night shift who is reassigned to a day shift for light duty purposes shall be paid his night differential only for those shifts actually worked).

Section 11.

The Town agrees that any employee who is assigned light duty on a less than full-time basis, and who reports as assigned, shall be considered to be on injured-on-duty status for the remainder of his/her regular week and shall be paid for such time in accordance with MGL C41, S111F.

Section 12.

An employee shall not be required to report for light duty without legitimate light duty assignment as prescribed in Section 16.

Section 13.

Light duty shall be made available on a voluntary basis to employees on sick leave, subject to medical documentation at the employee's expense that the employee is capable of performing such task(s).

Section 14.

It is understood by the parties that this provision is not intended to be used as a means of punishment. The Chief will not require an employee to report for limited duty and sit idly if there is no legitimate work available.

Section 15.

Consistent with such Association Members' physical limitations, light duty assignments shall include, but not be limited to all the duties normally performed by a Superior Officer except he/she shall not perform:

- A. Prisoner watch
- B. Traffic enforcement activities
- C. Apprehend criminals
- D. Respond to calls, except in emergencies

When there exists a disagreement between the Chief and the Association as to what light duty tasks may be assigned, a committee comprised of the Board of Selectmen and one or both Associaiton Members shall meet and resolve the disagreement.

ARTICLE XXIII

WAGES

Every full time officer for which step rate increases in compensation are provided may be considered for an increase to the next higher step rate within his compensation grade effective July 1, 1978. To be considered for a step increase an employee must have been full time employed on or before January 1.

Year 1 - 2% wage increase

Year 2 - 2% wage increase

Year 3 - 2% wage increase

WAGE AND SALARY SCALES

7/1/2019 - 6/30/2020

7/1/2020 - 6/30/2021

7/1/2021 - 6/30/2022

LIEUTENANT

\$112,279

\$114,525

\$116,816

ARTICLE XXIII - A

PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS

Section 1.

The duties of the Association Members of the bargaining unit shall include but need not be limited to duties set forth by the Chief in Member job descriptions. The bargaining unit recognizes that from time to time the duties of a Lieutenant will be changed, i.e., added to, amended or deleted. No change in duties will be made without input from the Members of the bargaining unit. But, the ultimate authority to assign job duties rests with the Chief of Police.

Section 2.

Association Members shall have their performance evaluated by the Chief of Police on an annual basis. The On-Target Performance Management Plus (PMP) software shall be the instrument used to conduct performance evaluations. The bargaining unit recognizes that from time to time the procedures for conducting performance evaluations may be amended or revised. No amendments or revisions will be made without input from the Association Members.

Section 3.

Evaluations must be completed by May 1 of each year. Association Members who receive a "meets standards" evaluation shall be paid the bonus equal to .75% of Article XXIII base wages shown in the table below not later than the first pay period in July of each year. Association Members who receive a "requires improvement" evaluation shall not be entitled to receive the performance bonus. An Association Member denied the performance bonus will have his performance evaluated again within 60 days. If after the second evaluation, the Association Member raises his evaluation to "meets standards" or above, he will receive the performance bonus. Amount paid pursuant to the performance evaluation shall be paid in a lump sum.

7/1/2019-6/30/2020 Performance

Appraisals Art. XXIIIA

7/1/2020-6/30/2021 Performance

Appraisals Art. XXIIIA

7/1/2021-6/30/2022 Performance Appraisals Art. XXIIIA

LIEUTENANT

\$842

\$859

\$876

ARTICLE XXIII - B

NON-PROMOTIONAL MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE

Upon application and appointment by the Chief of Police to one of the following two (2) non-promotional management positions, an officer shall qualify for an additional five percent (5%) in his/her Article XXIII base wages only for the period during which he/she performs one of the following two (2) positions. Appointment to a position hereunder, including the specific but not exclusive right not to make any appointments, shall be made on an annual basis at the discretion of the Police Chief. Normal sanctions and procedures shall be applied only to the task and benefits under this program, except no appeal can be made to the Civil Service Commission. An officer may apply for these positions and may serve for not more than three (3) years during his/her tenure as a Pembroke Police Officer.

<u>Records and Data Management, Analysis, and Planning</u>. Responsibilities will include management of the department's records and computer systems, and analysis of crime trends, as well as planning for future needs of the department.

<u>Physical Plant and Equipment Management and Planning</u>. Responsibilities will include the management and facilitation of maintenance of the Pembroke Police Station, and department vehicles and equipment as well as planning for the future needs of the department.

<u>Firearms Records Management.</u> Responsibilities will include the management of Pembroke Police Department records and issuance of Firearms Identification Cards and Licenses to Carry, as well as planning for future needs of the Department.

The assignment of the above duties does not in any way limit the police chiefs authority to assign the above duties to another officer without the required payment when there is no assigned officer under this program or the assigned officer is off sick, injured, on vacation or any other leave, or when the chief may determine that a particular job is an emergency and needs to be performed when the officer is unavailable or assigned to another job duty. The performance of these duties by another officer will not entitle him/her to receive special pay for performing these duties.

ARTICLE XXIV

LONGEVITY

Longevity increments shall be unconditionally granted to each regular full time employee after completion of each five (5) years full time employment for the Town of Pembroke. Payments will be made within 21 days of the employee's anniversary date according to the following schedule:

YEARS OF SERVICE COMPLETED	LONGEVITY PAYMENT
10 years	\$400
20 years	\$800
30 years	\$1,200

ARTICLE XXV

NIGHT DIFFERENTIAL

An eight percent (8%) night differential will be paid to officers scheduled for shifts number 1 and 3 or 12 midnight to 8 a.m., and 4 p.m. to 12 midnight, but only for hours worked, and shall not include vacation, sick leave, injured on duty, personal days or bereavement leave.

ARTICLE XXVI

TRAINING

Section 1.

For the purpose of providing training to Association Members, the Chief may change a member's scheduled work day or days to enable the Town to send the Member to trianing or an academy as provided in Section (6) of Article XX, and upon completion of said training or attendance at an academy the Member shall return to his normal work schedule.

Section 2.

The Town agrees to pay reasonable expenses to employees while attending such schools or academies. For the purpose of this article, reasonable expenses shall be: when an employee uses his own vehicle for transportation to and from such schools or academies he shall be paid mileage expenses at the same rate of pay as allowed for other Town employees for travel; also while in attendance at such schools or academies he shall be allowed a per diem meal expense of \$10.00.

Section 3.

All advancements for promotion in the Pembroke Police Department shall be based on competitive examination.

Section 4.

All police training schools other than mandatory shall be offered in an equitable manner.

ARTICLE XXVI - A

PROFESSIONAL IMPROVEMENTS PLAN

Effective July 01, 1996 the Town agrees to establish a Professional Improvement Plan designed towards recognizing the needs of the Pembroke Police Officers to be trained in areas and magnitudes not covered by the Massachusetts Criminal Justice Training Council's In-Service Training School, Article XXVII Police School, Article XXVII Educational Incentive, or E 911 training. Lieutenants shall receive \$2,200.00 for professional improvement on or before December 1 of each year.

Some areas to be considered covered under this section are: any and all courses offered by, approved by, or under the Massachusetts Criminal Justice Training Council, any courses offered by a school of higher learning, academy, gun club, and/or approved learning facility in the following, but not limited to: Criminal Justice, Criminal Sciences, Law Enforcement, Officer Survival, Firearms. Management, Communications, Languages, Public Relations, and other areas.

ARTICLE XXVII

EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE PLAN

Section 1.

Members of the Association shall be entitled to educational plan benefit of five hundred dollars (\$500.00) for one year or more of college credits earned that is less than a certified degree.

Section 2.

Members of the Association shall be entitled to educational plan benefis for degree or equivalent earned as follows:

Effective January 1, 2019

Associate's Degree \$4,500.00

Bachelor's Degree \$9,000.00

Master's Degree \$14,000.00

To be rolled into employee's base pay.

Section 3.

Employees who earn academic semester hours which are honored by a college or university accredited by the New England Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools or by the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education toward the attainment of a degree in law enforcement, shall receive incentive payment for said semester hours in accordance with Sections 1 or 2 above, as applicable.

Section 4.

Members of the Association entitled to educational plan benefis for degrees or equivalent will have the amount rolled into their base pay.

Section 5.

Eligibility will be based on degree-oriented courses in Law Enforcement Degree Programs at a college or university accredited by the New England Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools or by the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education and must be approved by the Chief of Police.

Section 6.

Differences of opinion as to whether a course or courses will qualify toward the incentive plan may be subject of the Grievance Procedure.

Section 7.

Effective July 1, 2003, employees qualifying for educational incentive holding Bachelor's or Master's Degrees shall no longer receive the E911 pay. Bargaining unit members entering this Association after the signing of this agreement (4/04), shall not under any circumstances, receive 911 pay. Officers holding a Bachelor's or Master's Degree shall not receive E911 pay.

ARTICLE XXVIII

HEALTH AND SAFETY

A committee to include the Chief of Police, a member of the Board of Selectmen, a member of the Advisory Committee, , a member of the Wage and Personnel Board, a member of the Superior Officers Association and a member of the Pembroke Police Union, if available, will meet during the year as agreed between the Board of Selectmen and the Superior Officers Association. Health and Officer Safety equipment will be recommended and supported in a Town Meeting Article for the improvement of the officers' Health and Safety.

ARTICLE XXIX

DUTY ASSIGNMENTS

The Town and the Association recognize that the principal factors in job and shift assignments are the efficiency and integrity of the Police Department. Nevertheless, the Town and the Chief of Police will give due consideration to seniority, physical condition, and personal hardship in making job and shift assignments that are not promotional.

ARTICLE XXX

NON-DISCRIMINATION

The Town and the Association agree not to discriminate in any way against employees covered by this Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination because of age, sex, marital status, race, color, religion, creed, national origin, political affiliation or union or non-union membership.

ARTICLE XXXI

JUST CAUSE AND COMPLAINTS

Section 1.

No employee shall be reprimanded, suspended, discharged or otherwise disciplined except for just cause.

Section 2.

All complaints against employees shall be made known to the employee, and, if in writing, the employee will be furnished a copy of said complaint, prior to any action being taken by the Department.

ARTICLE XXXII

MILEAGE RATE

When an employee uses his own automobile, with authorization in the performance of his work, he shall be reimbursed with a Travel Allowance paid at the same rate of pay as is allowed other Town employees for in-town travel, or authorized out-of-town travel.

ARTICLE XXXIII

CALL BACK/CALL IN EARLY

Section 1.

If a regular member of the Pembroke Police Department who has left his place of employment or last duty assignment after having completed the work on his regular tour of duty is recalled to work, or if an employee is so recalled on a scheduled day off or during his vacation, the employee shall be compensated for all such work on a time and one-half basis and in no event shall be paid less than four (4) hours at said time and one-half rate in accordance with the FLSA.

Section 2.

If an employee is requested to report early to work prior to the normal starting time of his scheduled tour of duty and works continuously from the time he reports to the start of his normal scheduled tour of duty, such employee shall receive overtime pay on a time and one-half basis for the actual time worked prior to the commencement of his normal tour of duty. If the employee is ordered to report early, he shall be guaranteed a minimum of two (2) hours pay at such time and one half rate in accordance with the FLSA.

ARTICLE XXXIV

TOWN FUNDING

Section 1.

All financial provisions of this Agreement are subject to the appropriate funding by the Town at the Annual and Special Town Meetings

Section 2.

A copy of this Agreement will be provided to the Town Accountant and Town Treasurer to make them aware of all monies that will come due and of the dates due as set out in the contract and to allow them sufficient time to require any necessary support data prior to payments being made.

ARTICLE XXXV

SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS PROVISIONS

If any article or section of this Agreement shall be held invalid by operation of a law or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or enforcement of any article or section should be restrained by such tribunal pending a final determination as to its validity, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such article or section to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid or as to which compliance with or enforcement of has been restrained, shall not be affected thereby. In the event that any article or section is held invalid or enforcement of or compliance with which has been restrained, as set forth above, the parties affected thereby shall enter into immediate collective bargaining negotiations upon the request of either party, for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement, if any, for such article or section during the period of invalidity or restraint. If the parties do not agree on a mutually satisfactory replacement, either party shall be permitted to resolve the issue by using Article IX hereof.

ARTICLE XXXVI

DURATION OF AGREEMENT

Section 1.

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from July 1, 2019 to and including June 30, 2022. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect thereafter, until a new agreement is executed and implemented. It is agreed that negotiations for the contract commencing on July 1, 2022, shall be commenced as soon as possible following the execution of this agreement, but in no event later than November 15, 2021.

Section 2.

The Pembroke Police Superior Officers Association and the Pembroke Police Officers agree that they will not cause, condone, sanction, or take part in any strike, walkout, slowdown, or work stoppage during the term of this Agreement or during any period of time while negotiations are in progress, or pending between the parties for a continuance or renewal of it; the fact as to whether such action has taken place and the determinations of the involvement of an individual or individuals shall be the subject of the arbitration process or procedure.

Section 3.

We, the undersigned representatives of the Town of Pembroke, and the Pembroke Police Superior Officers Association have negotiated the above Agreement in good faith and agree to sponsor and support same before the Town Meeting as a fair and equitable contract, fairly reflecting the needs of both the Town of Pembroke and the Pembroke Police Officers.

ARTICLE XXXVII

WAGE RE-OPENER

The Town and the Association agree to negotiate a wage increase during the second year of this contract (July 1, 2020 – June 20, 2021).

By the Town of Pembroke

By the Pembroke Police **Superior Officers Association**

Date signed: 10.11.20

SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT

The Town agrees that retired members of the Pembroke Police Department may be eligible to perform details and road jobs after October 15, 1996 until they reach the age of sixty-five (65), provided that they maintain the training and physical standards required for Special Officers. The rotation for details and road jobs shall be Regular Full-time Officers, followed by Retired Officers, followed by Permanent Intermittent Officers, followed by Special Officers. The terms of this side letter are not part of this, and not enforceable as a, collective bargaining agreement.

By the Town of Pembroke

The Pembroke Police Superior Officers Association

Date Signed: 10.11.2019